ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Laurens County

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED  
JUL 02 2015  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

MAURICE ANTHONY ODOM,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001340

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by admitting dog tracking evidence when the state failed to establish a sufficient foundation for admission of the evidence, specifically the state failed to show the dog handler satisfied the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702, SCRE, and that by experience the dog had been found to be reliable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the February 24, 2012 term of General Sessions for second degree burglary, grand larceny, and criminal conspiracy. R. 314-319. His case was called to trial on June 9, 2014 before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitors Warren Mowry and Christopher Scott appeared on behalf of the state, and Elizabeth Wiygul represented Appellant. R. 1.

On June 11, 2014, the jury found Appellant guilty. R. 275, ll. 13-22. Judge Hocker sentenced him to fifteen years imprisonment for second degree burglary, five years concurrent for grand larceny, and five years concurrent for criminal conspiracy. R. 306, ll. 10-16.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by admitting dog tracking evidence when the state failed to establish a sufficient foundation for admission of the evidence, specifically the state failed to show the dog handler satisfied the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702, SCRE, and that by experience the dog had been found to be reliable.

### **Relevant Facts**

The state alleged at trial that Appellant and his co-defendant Christopher Mixon burglarized a BP gas station located off of Interstate 26 in Clinton, South Carolina during the early morning hours of November 11, 2011. Sometime after midnight, Sergeant Nick Moyer of the Laurens County Sheriff's Office heard an "audible alarm" coming from the BP gas station as he passed by during his routine patrol. He immediately notified dispatch and was informed that the alarm company had just reported the incident and that the City of Clinton Police had been dispatched to the scene. R. 15, l. 7 – 16, l. 7.

After notifying dispatch, Moyer pulled into the parking lot and noticed one of the windows on the side of the building was broken. R. 20, ll. 1-9. He claimed he observed a male subject climb out of the broken window and run around to the back of the store. Moyer chased after the man, but lost sight of him when he entered a wooded area behind the building. R. 22, ll. 2-17. After losing sight of the man, Moyer went back to the store to "secure the scene" and wait for "backup units" to arrive. R. 22, ll. 21-24.

The owners of the BP store were notified by the alarm company and arrived at the store shortly after the police. R. 32, l. 3 – 33, l. 6. The owners provided law enforcement with access to the security footage which showed two male suspects wearing pants, long sleeved shirts, gloves, and masks inside the store. R. 37, l. 10 - 38, l. 8; R. 40, l. 19 – 41, l.

5. The suspects had broken the window with a large rock and were loading cash and cartons of cigarettes into black trash bags when they suddenly fled the store leaving the trash bags behind. R. 43, l. 3 – 46, l. 7.

Officers with the Clinton Police Department who responded to the scene discovered a black Chrysler 300 parked on the eastbound side of Interstate 26 near the BP gas station. R. 176, l. 13 – 177, l. 6. The engine was still warm suggesting the vehicle had not been parked there for very long. R. 178, ll. 22-24. There were no other vehicles in the area. The officers ran the vehicle's tag and learned the car was registered to Appellant. R. 180, ll. 8-24. A patrol officer was instructed to watch the vehicle in case it had any connection to the burglary. R. 181, l. 24 – 182, l. 1. This officer left his post without permission and about two hours later the police discovered the car was gone. R. 199, l. 18 – 200, l. 14.

The SLED bloodhound tracking unit was called to the scene to attempt to track the male suspect Sergeant Moye had seen flee through the wooded area behind the store. The handler was shown the last known location of the suspect. A bloodhound and bluetick coonhound mix named Judy tracked around the area for nearly two hours, but allegedly lost the trail in close proximity to where the Chrysler 300 had been parked on the side of the interstate. R. 198, l. 23 – 201, l. 5.

After the initial investigation, law enforcement had no suspects. However, they learned through the Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) that Appellant, who was the registered owner of the Chrysler 300, had a listed address in Barnwell, South Carolina. R. 201, ll. 12-18. The lead investigator on the case, Tyrone Goggins, travelled to Barnwell to attempt to speak with Appellant. Officers with the Barnwell Police Department accompanied Goggins to Appellant's listed address since the home was in that agency's

jurisdiction. R. 204, l. 2 – 205, l. 6. While Appellant was not home when law enforcement arrived, officers from Barnwell noticed Christopher Mixon in the vicinity of Appellant's house and, knowing he had outstanding warrants, arrested him. R. 205, ll. 7-25. Mixon lived on the same street as Appellant. R. 208, ll. 13-19. Goggins interviewed Mixon that day and, as a result of the interview, he obtained arrest warrants for Appellant and Mixon for the burglary of the BP gas station in Clinton. R. 208, l. 20 – 209, l. 6.

Christopher Mixon testified for the state. At the time of his testimony, he had six prior convictions for second degree burglary and his charges related to this case were still pending. R. 72, ll. 8-18. Mixon claimed that on November 11, 2011, he and Appellant drove from Barnwell to Clinton in Appellant's Chrysler 300. R. 75, l. 9 – 76, l. 5. They dropped a large rock off at the BP store and then parked their vehicle on the edge of the eastbound side of Interstate 26. R. 78, l. 6 – 79, l. 18. Mixon claimed that after parking the car, they walked to the store and Appellant busted the window with the large rock they had dropped off. R. 80, l. 12 – 82, l. 18. The men then entered the store and began loading cigarettes and tobacco products into black trash bags. R. 82, l. 19 – 83, l. 23. Mixon testified that as he was loading up the trash bags he noticed a police car out front. According to Mixon, Appellant climbed out the window first and took off running. Mixon followed and ran into a wooded area. R. 86, l. 1 – 88, l. 13.

Mixon claimed he was in the woods for about two hours. He was trying to make his way back to the car. Once he reached the car, he noticed a police officer nearby so he remained hidden in the woods. Mixon maintained that Appellant eventually met him at the car and they left the scene. R. 88, l. 1 – 90, l. 15.

## **Dog Tracking Evidence and Objection**

Reid Creswell, who worked for SLED for twenty-two years, testified that he held numerous positions throughout his career, including security detail for multiple governors, vice and narcotics, and bloodhound tracking. At the time of trial, Creswell worked at the statehouse and provided security detail for the lieutenant governor. R. 103, ll. 7-24. Despite his lengthy career, Creswell only spent three years in the bloodhound tracking unit. R. 103, l. 25 – 104, l. 3. He was part of the unit during November 2011 and was the handler who participated in this case. R. 104, ll. 6-21.

Creswell testified that he received a call to report to Clinton around 3:45 am on November 11, 2011. After getting dressed, he headed to the SLED headquarters on Broad River Road where the dogs were housed in a kennel. Creswell chose to take Judy, a bloodhound and bluetick coonhound mix, who he considered to be SLED's "number one dog." R. 104, l. 19 – 105, l. 21. He maintained that SLED often acquires bloodhounds mixed with a redbone coonhound or a bluetick coonhound to give the animals "more heat endurance" because pureblood bloodhounds do not do well in South Carolina due to the heat. R. 106, ll. 8-11. Creswell testified that both bloodhounds and bluetick coonhounds "have an acute sense of smell." R. 106, l. 16.

According to Creswell, Judy was trained and used solely to track human scent. She did not engage in drug detection or any other activities. R. 107, ll. 10-13. Creswell testified that SLED acquired Judy in 2002 or 2003 at eight weeks of age and that she developed into "an on-line dog" around 2004. By November 2011, Judy had eight or nine years of experience. R. 107, l. 14 – 108, l. 6.

Creswell testified that in November 2011 he had two years of experience working with the bloodhound tracking unit. He explained that all of his training was done “in-house” at SLED and that he simply learned from the senior members of the unit. R. 108, ll. 7-20. He maintained that he had been on approximately fifty “tracking excursions” with Judy. R. 109, ll. 6-8.

The state then sought to have Creswell qualified as an expert in K9 handling in order to testify about Judy’s tracking in this case and “to give an opinion as to the reliability of Judy.” R. 109, l. 9 – 110, l. 3. Defense counsel objected and the jury was excused from the courtroom. During in-camera testimony, Creswell revealed that he had no recognized training in South Carolina, had never attended any certified classes, had never published any articles related to bloodhound tracking or training, and had never read any publications or articles regarding the subject. R. 111, l. 9 – 112, l. 11. He further admitted that he had never been qualified as an expert in K9 handling before in any court of law. R. 116, ll. 14-16.

When questioned by the court regarding Judy’s reliability, Creswell testified that he knew Judy was involved in two recent cases with the solicitor’s office in Laurens County, but that he did not know the outcome. The solicitor maintained that one of the cases resulted in a conviction, but the other did not. R. 118, l. 4 – 120, l. 8. Creswell admitted that outside Laurens County he was not aware of any cases that Judy had been involved in that resulted in a conviction. R. 120, ll. 10-13. However, he still maintained that in November 2011 Judy was “SLED’s number one dog” because of her “success in tracking people.” R. 120, l. 14 – 121, l. 16.

Additionally, Creswell claimed that Judy was placed on the trail in this case within “a matter of hours” from when the male suspect was last seen, which he considered to be a reasonable amount of time for a bloodhound. R. 122, l. 20 – 123, l. 13. He also testified that he was not aware of any contamination on the trail and maintained that no one else had entered the trail after the suspect fled. R. 123, l. 21 – 124, l. 3.

Before the court determined whether to qualify Creswell as an expert in K9 handling, he said he wanted to hear the rest of Creswell’s testimony in-camera. R. 129, ll. 4-12. After listening to all of the testimony in-camera, the court ruled that it would qualify Creswell as an expert in “K-9 handling for purposes of tracking human scent.” R. 148, ll. 23-35. The court stated, “Probably in some respects *this is a close call*, but I am going to deem Agent Creswell as an expert based upon his experience and training and his testimony could be an aid to the jury to determine the facts in this case.” He commented further that there “could be some . . . good arguments to attack this part of the State’s case.” The court also found that all of the factors set forth in State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009) had been met. R. 148, l. 14 – 149, l. 7 (emphasis added).

Creswell’s testimony before the jury was similar to his testimony in-camera. He testified that he received the call to report to Clinton at 3:48 am and he ultimately arrived at the BP gas station around 5:00 am. R. 151, ll. 14-17. He put Judy on the trail where Sergeant Moye had last seen the suspect and she tracked for approximately an hour and a half before the trail ended at the edge of Interstate 26. R. 151, l. 18 – 152, l. 7; R. 159, l. 11 – 161, l. 23. Creswell maintained that based on his experience as a K9 handler he believed Judy was on a trail that morning. He further opined that Judy was a reliable bloodhound tracking dog. R. 162, l. 1 – 163, l. 5.

During his closing argument, the solicitor used the dog tracking evidence in support of his case. He argued, “[T]he track basically went into the woods, came out about here, lo and behold, almost directly across the street or road from the car. And whose car was that? Well, it was a 2005 Chrysler that, lo and behold, came back registered to his Defendant [Appellant].” R. 236, l. 18 – 237, l. 1.

### **Discussion**

The court erred by admitting the dog tracking evidence through the testimony of Reid Creswell over defense counsel’s objection since the state failed to establish a sufficient foundation for admission of this evidence. Most significantly, the state failed to show Creswell satisfied the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702, SCRE, and that the dog had been found to be reliable.

Rule 702, SCRE, articulates guidelines for admissibility of expert testimony in South Carolina. “If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.” Rule 702, SCRE. “The party offering the expert testimony has the burden of showing the witness possesses the necessary learning, skill, or practical experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony.” *State v. White*, 372 S.C. 364, 375, 642 S.E.2d 607, 612 (Ct. App. 2007), *aff’d in result*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009).

“South Carolina courts have repeatedly acknowledged dog handling as an area of expertise in the criminal context.” *Id.* at 377, 642 S.E.2d at 613. “Testimony of a dog handler based upon his observation of a tracking dog may be properly admitted into

evidence.” Id. (quoting State v. Johnson, 306 S.C. 119, 127, 410 S.E.2d 547, 552 (1991)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Our Supreme Court has held that “a sufficient foundation for the admission of dog tracking evidence is established if: (1) the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) by experience the dog is found to be reliable; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) the trail was not otherwise contaminated.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 272, 676 S.E.2d 684, 687 (2009).

The K9 handler in White was a “Senior Master K9 Handler,” which is the highest level of K9 handling that can be acquired. He had been with the K9 unit for approximately fourteen years and had been working with the dog involved in the case for eight years. Additionally, the handler and dog had run a total of 750 tracks throughout the dog’s career and met the standards to qualify with the American Association of K9 Trainers every year. Moreover, the handler had been qualified as an expert before in Richland County. White, 372 S.C. at 371, 642 S.E.2d at 610. This Court held that the handler’s “testimony verified he had acquired, by training and experience, such knowledge and skill in the area of dog handling and tracking that rendered him better qualified than the jury to form an opinion on the particular subject of dog tracking.” Id. at 384, 642 S.E.2d at 617. However, our Supreme Court never discussed the handler’s qualifications, noting that White conceded the

handler met the Rule 702, SCRE, qualifications due to his training and experience.<sup>1</sup> White, 382 S.C. at 269, 676 S.E.2d at 686.

In State v. Childs, 299 S.C. 471, 385 S.E.2d 839 (1989), our Supreme Court held that a sufficient foundation was established for the admission of dog tracking evidence when the K9 handler testified that he had eleven to twelve years of experience “running” bloodhounds, he had been qualified as an expert witness between ten and fifteen times in prior court proceedings, the dogs used “had the characteristics of acuteness in scent as well as the power of discrimination between human and other scents,” and he found the dogs to be reliable. Id. at 476-477, 385 S.E.2d at 842-843.

Here, the evidence failed to establish that Creswell satisfied the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702, SCRE. Creswell admitted that he had no formal training and had never attended any certified classes. He simply went out and “learn[ed] from the other guys” in the bloodhound tracking unit. See R. 108, ll. 18-20. At the time of this case, he had only two years’ experience in the field. He also testified that he had never published any articles nor had he read any periodicals on the subject. Moreover, Creswell had never been qualified as an expert before. His lack of qualifications is readily apparent when compared to the experts in White and Childs. For example, the expert in White had been with the K9 unit for fourteen years, met standards annually, and had run approximately 750 tracks with the involved dog. The expert in Childs had eleven to twelve years of experience and had been qualified as an expert between ten and fifteen times.

Moreover, the state failed to establish the reliability of Judy. While Creswell

---

<sup>1</sup> The objection in White was to the dog’s reliability and not to the handler’s qualifications. See White, 382 S.C. at 269-270, 676 S.E.2d at 686.