ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2015

Appeal from Laurens County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001340

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MAURICE ANTHONY ODOM,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County
Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

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

In the case sub judice, the evidence and testimony presented during trial established: (1) Senior Agent Creswell's expert testimony regarding dog tracking could assist the jury in understanding and resolving the issues raised in Appellant's case; (2) Senior Agent Creswell had the requisite knowledge, skill, training, and experience to qualify as an expert; and (3) the subject matter of Senior Agent Creswell's testimony was reliable. See Martin, 391 S.C. at 513, 706 S.E.2d at 42 (instructing expert testimony is admissible where the trial judge finds: "(1) the expert's testimony will assist the trier of fact, (2) the expert possesses the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, and (3) and the expert's testimony is reliable"). Under those circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by qualifying Senior Agent Creswell as an expert in Appellant's case and permitting him to testify before the jury about Judy's tracking of one of the burglars who committed the break-in at the BP gas station and convenience store on the date of the incident.

Initially, Senior Agent Creswell's expert testimony was necessary in Appellant's case to assist the jury in understanding how Judy was able to track the suspect who fled behind the store after the break-in because information about how a trained tracking dog follows a suspect's scent after a crime constituted a subject matter beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jurors. See Watson, 389 S.C. at 446, 699 S.E.2d at 175 (“[I]n executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.”). Therefore, the trial judge correctly determined it was necessary for Senior Agent Creswell to testify as an expert in order to explain how Judy tracked the suspect on the date of the incident.

Beyond the ability of the agent's testimony to assist the jury, Senior Agent Creswell was also personally qualified to offer an expert opinion in regard to canine handling and Judy's tracking of the suspect in Appellant's case based on his own knowledge, skill, training, and experience. See Henry, 329 S.C. at 278, 495 S.E.2d at 469 (“[T]he relevant inquiry concerning qualification of the proffered expert is whether the witness possesses the necessary skill, learning, education, training, knowledge, or experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony.”). Specifically, Senior Agent Creswell testified he had four-and-a-half years of experience in total working as a part of the SLED bloodhound tracking unit, was a full-time member of that unit for three years, and had two years of tracking experience at the time of the incident. Additionally, he indicated he personally received training from experienced dog handlers at SLED after joining the tracking unit and was involved in daily, year-round training in dog tracking while he was a member of the unit. See Martin, 391 S.C. at 513-514, 706 S.E.2d at 42-43

(finding no error in the qualification of a witness as an expert even though the witness' expertise was based in part on in-house training he had received through his employment at SLED). Furthermore, he indicated he personally went on approximately fifty tracking excursions with Judy, and he demonstrated his knowledge regarding tracking by explaining how a trained tracking dog is able to detect and follow the skin cells that fall off of an individual that is being tracked. Critically, Senior Agent Creswell's practical experience in tracking coupled with his training from other experienced dog handlers and his knowledge of the mechanics of how dogs are able to track scents demonstrated his expertise on the subject matter and enabled him to assist the jury with a matter beyond the knowledge of an ordinary layperson.⁵ See Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 530, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988) ("A witness may be competent to testify as an expert

⁵ In arguing Senior Agent Creswell was not personally qualified to testify as an expert on canine handling, Appellant points to the fact the experts in other dog tracking cases decided by appellate courts in South Carolina had more years of tracking experience than Senior Agent Creswell, had gone on more tracking excursions than the agent, and had been qualified as expert witnesses in the past. Importantly though, matching the exact qualifications of other previously-qualified experts is not a prerequisite to testifying as an expert in South Carolina, and the cases relied upon by Appellant for his contention in no way established a dog tracking witness can only be qualified as an expert if he or she meets or exceeds the qualifications of the witnesses found to be experts in those earlier cases. Cf. State v. Clute, 324 S.C. 584, 595-596, 480 S.E.2d 85, 91 (Ct. App. 1996) ("[Clute] claims the arresting officer should not have been qualified as an expert because he had not completed twenty hours of training in administering the HGN test and because he administered the HGN test improperly. Clute cites State v. Sullivan, 310 S.C. 311, 426 S.E.2d 766 (1993), in support of these arguments. . . . In Sullivan, the Court held that HGN test results were admissible where the arresting officer had approximately twenty hours of training in administering the test. However, the Court **did not establish twenty hours as a threshold requirement for an officer to qualify as an expert** in administering the test." (emphasis added)), overruled on other grounds by State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000). As a result, Senior Agent Creswell's knowledge, skill, training, and experience were sufficient to qualify him as an expert in canine handling despite the fact other witnesses who may be considered **more** qualified than him on that subject matter could have existed. See Henry, 329 S.C. at 273, 495 S.E.2d at 466 ("There is no abuse of discretion as long as the witness has acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury's good judgment and common knowledge."); cf. Myers, 301 S.C. at 255, 391 S.E.2d at 554 (holding the trial judge committed reversible error by **refusing** to qualify a witness as an expert in the field of blood spatter patterns and their interpretation due to the facts the witness had only attended a one week seminar on that subject and had never previously testified in court in regard to blood pattern interpretations); State v. Tillman, 304 S.C. 512, 519, 405 S.E.2d 607, 611 (Ct. App. 1991) (holding the trial judge properly qualified a witness as an expert in distinguishing tire patterns where the witness was the manager of a tire store, had been employed by a tire company for six years, had attended classes on recognizing tire patterns, and stated he could recognize different tire marks based on his training and experience).

although the witness acquired his or her knowledge **through practical experience and not by scientific study, training, or research.**” (emphasis added)); see also Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 228, 628 S.E.2d 262, 270 (Ct. App. 2006) (“An expert is not limited to any class of persons acting professionally. There is no exact requirement concerning how knowledge or skill must be acquired.” (citations omitted)); cf. Peer, 320 S.C. at 554, 466 S.E.2d at 380 (finding no error in the trial judge’s qualification of a witness as an expert in sound where the witness had over five years of law enforcement experience, was trained by **another** officer who was certified in the use of sound meter equipment, was capable of demonstrating how a sound level meter worked, and had handled approximately ten cases during the one-and-a-half years he had been conducting sound tests); State v. Goode, 305 S.C. 176, 178, 406 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 1991) (finding no abuse of discretion in the qualification of a witness as an expert on a “lane of impact” issue where the witness had twelve weeks of training that included some specific training on determining the point of impact in accidents, one week of road training with a municipal police force, and four to five months of experience as a state trooper). As a result, the trial judge properly found Senior Agent Creswell to be personally qualified as an expert in canine handling.

Finally, Senior Agent Creswell’s testimony about Judy’s tracking of the burglary suspect met the threshold level of reliability necessary for it to be admissible during Appellant’s trial. Critically, looking to the relevant foundational factors established in Appellant’s case, Senior Agent Creswell’s testimony demonstrated he personally possessed the necessary qualifications to be considered an expert canine handler based on his own knowledge, skill, training, and experience. Cf. Henry, 329 S.C. at 277-278, 495 S.E.2d at 468-469 (“The challenge mounted by Henry blithely ignores the recognized

principle of law that a witness is competent as an expert provided the witness has acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a business, profession, or science that **she is better qualified than the jury** to form an opinion on the particular subject of testimony.” (emphasis added)). Likewise, the testimony presented during trial established Judy was part bloodhound and part bluetick hound, which Senior Agent Creswell indicated were both breeds of dog characterized by an acute sense of smell. See Debruler v. Commonwealth, 231 S.W.3d 752, 758 (Ky. 2007) (recognizing some breeds of dogs, including bloodhounds, are commonly known to have remarkably acute senses of smell). Similarly, Senior Agent Creswell’s testimony made clear Judy had received eight to nine years of training in tracking humans by the date of the incident and had been trained in tracking since she was a puppy. Additionally, the agent’s testimony established Judy was reliable even though no evidence was presented establishing she had been certified in an area of tracking. Cf. State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 204, 656 S.E.2d 359, 367 (2008) (“Despite Appellant’s argument to the contrary, the status of [the witness’s] law license is completely irrelevant to his qualification as an expert. The evidentiary rule governing the qualification of experts says nothing about professional licensing requirements, and a licensing requirement seems wholly incompatible with Rule 702’s operational framework.”). Specifically, Senior Agent Creswell confirmed Judy was the “number one dog” at SLED based on her proven reliability as a tracking dog, indicated he was able to personally verify Judy’s reliability while she was tracking by observing environmental disturbances that confirmed an individual had recently used the trail Judy was leading him along, and noted Judy was so accurate she stopped directly on top of a suspect she was following on one occasion while the suspect was attempting to hide underneath some pine straw at the end of the

trail. Cf. Childs, 299 S.C. at 477, 385 S.E.2d at 843 (finding expert dog tracking testimony to be admissible where the witness testified he personally found the tracking dogs he used to be reliable). Finally, Senior Agent Creswell confirmed Judy was placed on the burglary suspect's trail less than three hours after the break-in, which he stated was a reasonable time period for Judy to be able to track the suspect's scent, and steps were taken to ensure the suspect's trail had not been contaminated before Judy began tracking. Cf. State v. Brown, 103 S.C. 437, 444, 88 S.E. 21, 23 (1916) (finding dog tracking testimony to be inadmissible because the dogs did not begin tracking until over fifteen hours after the crime, which was outside of the fifteen-hour time window in which the witness testified the dogs could reliably track a scent). Based on the establishment of those foundational factors, the trial judge properly found a sufficient threshold level of reliability had been established and correctly admitted Senior Agent Creswell's expert testimony. See White, 382 S.C. at 272, 676 S.E.2d at 687 (“[A] sufficient foundation for the admission of dog tracking evidence is established if (1) the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) by experience the dog is found to be reliable; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) the trail was not otherwise contaminated.”).

Because Senior Agent Creswell's testimony satisfied all of the requirements for the admission of expert testimony in South Carolina, his expert testimony on dog tracking could properly be introduced during trial, and Appellant could only properly challenge that testimony through cross-examination and by calling the jurors' attention to any defects or deficiencies he believed existed in regard to the knowledge, skill, training, or

experience of the agent or of Judy. See Wilson v. Rivers, 357 S.C. 447, 453, 593 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2004) (“Any defects in the amount of [an expert’s] education and experience, if any, go to the weight of his testimony and not its admissibility.”); see also Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 596 (1983) (“Vigorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence.”); see generally 31A Am. Jur. 2d Expert and Opinion Evidence § 90 (“Such matters as defects in an expert’s education or experience, the lack of an expert’s specialization or lack of specialized training, the degree of an expert’s certainty as to his or her opinion, or the quality of the expert’s conclusions go to the weight to be given expert opinion testimony. Furthermore, the mere fact that controversy, or even substantial controversy, surrounds an expert’s conclusion or opinion goes to the weight to be given such testimony.” (footnotes omitted)). Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by qualifying Senior Agent Creswell as an expert and permitting the agent to present his expert testimony to the jury, and his ruling was not arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.⁶

⁶ Notwithstanding the fact the trial judge committed absolutely no error in admitting Senior Agent Creswell’s expert testimony, any error that could have resulted from the admission of that testimony was entirely harmless in light of the other evidence and testimony presented during trial. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); see also United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”). Critically, aside from Senior Agent Creswell’s testimony, Officer Goggins testified without objection the SLED tracking team tracked the suspect through the woods and to a location near where Appellant’s vehicle had been parked along Interstate 26. See State v. McFarlane, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983) (“It is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.”). Additionally, the evidence and testimony presented during trial other than the dog tracking evidence established Appellant’s vehicle was parked along the interstate in close proximity to the scene of the break-in in the middle of the night with a warm engine and without any innocent reason for it to be there and was removed from its position along the interstate just a few hours after the crime at a time when the law enforcement officer who was supposed to be watching the vehicle failed to maintain his surveillance of it, and Appellant’s accomplice testified before the jury and identified Appellant as the person who committed the break-in along with him. See State v. Tench, 353

See Fields, 363 S.C. at 26, 609 S.E.2d at 509 (“A trial court’s ruling on the admissibility of an expert’s testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

S.C. 531, 537, 579 S.E.2d 314, 317 (2003) (“Given the abundant evidence of Tench’s guilt, we find any error in admission of the seized items clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”); State v. Gathers, 295 S.C. 476, 480-481, 369 S.E.2d 140, 143 (1988) (finding an error to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of the appellant’s guilt); see also State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 97, 180 S.E.2d 888, 891 (1971) (“The jury had before it positive identifications of each of the defendants. Such identifications were not denied. It is academic that failure of the defendants to testify created no inference of guilt against them. They did not have the burden of proving anything. However, undisputed testimony is more conclusive than testimony which is in dispute, and it is less difficult for this court to reason that guilt is conclusively proven when there is no denial, than when an accused person disputes the truthfulness of the State’s evidence.”). Furthermore, Senior Agent Creswell’s testimony in no way directly established the identity of the person Judy was tracking after the break-in and, instead, only became probative of Appellant’s guilt if the jurors believed the testimony indicating Appellant’s car was parked along the interstate **and** Appellant was the one who parked the car there in order to participate in the burglary. See State v. Wiley, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010) (“No definite rule of law governs this finding; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”). Accordingly, under those circumstances, any error in the admission of Senior Agent Creswell’s testimony could not have impacted the verdict in Appellant’s case and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 432 (1972) (“[U]nless there is a reasonable possibility that the improperly admitted evidence contributed to the conviction, reversal is not required. In this case, we conclude that the ‘minds of an average jury’ would not have found the State’s case significantly less persuasive had the testimony as to Snell’s admission been excluded. The admission into evidence of these statements, therefore, was at most harmless error.” (citation omitted)).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.